IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, Respondent,

v. No.: 19-0447

STEVEN TEWALT, Petitioner. (An appeal of a final order in Preston County Circuit Court

Case No.: 18-F-44)

AUG 3 0 2019

EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLEAR SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel for the Petitioner, Steven Tewalt

Jeremy B. Cooper WV State Bar 12319 Blackwater Law PLLC PO Box 800 Kingwood, WV 26537 Tel: (304) 376-0037

Fax: (681) 245-6308

jeremy@blackwaterlawpllc.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Circuit Court erred by denying the Petitioner's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal due to insufficient evidence.
- The Circuit Court erred by denying the Petitioner's Motion for New Trial based upon the improper admission of collateral acts evidence under Rule 404(b).
- The Circuit Court erred by denying the Petitioner's Motion for Arrest of
 Judgment based upon the invalidity of the "Strangulation" statute for being
 unconstitutionally vague.
- The Circuit Court erred by denying the Petitioner's Motion for Mistrial based upon the jury's resolution of doubt in favor of the State rather than the accused.
- The Circuit Court erred by issuing a lifetime no-contact order against the Petitioner.
- 6. The Circuit Court erred cumulatively to the prejudice of the Petitioner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was indicted on a single count of Strangulation, pursuant to W. Va. Code §61-2-9d, by the Preston County Grand Jury. (Appendix Record Volume 1 ["A.R.1."], at 5).

The State noticed its intent to use certain collateral acts evidence, either via Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, or as res gestae. (A.R.1., at 9-11). This evidence included a recording of a conversation between the Petitioner and his wife, the alleged victim, surreptitiously recorded by the alleged victim, as well as the alleged victim's testimony concerning multiple prior instances of strangulation. The State also sought to admit the alleged victim's testimony of prior instances of strangulation as intrinsic evidence. The Petitioner

objected to the collateral acts evidence upon a number of grounds, including the spousal communication privilege, a failure to meet the requirements of Rule 404(b), the failure to prove the allegations by a preponderance, and that the collateral acts were not intrinsic to the indicted offense. (A.R.1., at 14-18). The State's motion was addressed inconclusively at a pretrial motion, and then during an *in camera* hearing held the day of trial. (A.R.2., at 8-38; A.R.3.).

At the *in camera* hearing, the Circuit Court heard testimony of the alleged victim, primarily on the issue of the recording. Based on her testimony, the Circuit Court ruled that the recording was inadmissible due to the spousal communication privilege. (A.R.1., at 20-21; A.R.2., at 8-38). However, without an opportunity for the Petitioner to cross-examine the alleged victim, the Circuit Court also ruled that the alleged victim's testimony concerning prior attacks, and the police report, would be admissible as 404(b) evidence, and offered the instruction throughout the trial to the jury that the evidence was offered to prove "motive, opportunity, intent, absence of mistake and lack of accident." (A.R.2., at 182, 208, 239).

During the state's case-in-chief, the alleged victim and the investigating officer testified.

(A.R.2., at 133-205). The Petitioner offered the testimony of three individuals who were living in or visiting the household during the relevant time periods. The Petitioner did not testify.

(A.R.2., at 208-233). The State entered eleven exhibits into evidence: ten photographs of the alleged victim and one photograph of the Petitioner's arms. (A.R.1., at 36-46). The Petitioner offered one exhibit into evidence: the alleged victim's petition for an emergency protective order. (A.R.1., at 47-57). The Petitioner moved, at the close of the State's case and the close of evidence, for a judgment of acquittal, which was denied. (A.R.2., at 205-08, 233).

The jury was instructed, and went to deliberate. During the first evening of deliberation

the jury asked the Court whether to include lesser included defenses, to which the answer was negative, and for a definition of "substantial," concerning which the Court instructed the jury to essentially rely on its judgment rather than offering a specific definition. (A.R.1., at 22; A.R.2., at 266-270). The jury deadlocked, and was given an Allen Charge with no objection. (A.R.1., at 23; A.R.2., at 270-274). On the second day of deliberation, the jury returned a guilty verdict. (A.R.1., at 24-25; A.R.2., at 281-84). The State filed a recidivist information shortly after the verdict.

The Petitioner filed post-trial motions, which essentially mirror the first four assignments of error in this appeal (A.R.I., at 26-31), as well as a motion to dismiss the recidivist action due to the failure to arraign the Petitioner on the same prior to the expiration of the term of court at which trial was held. The post-trial motions were denied after a hearing on the same, although the recidivist information was dismissed. (A.R.I., at 32-33; A.R.4.). The Petitioner was thereafter sentenced to 1-5 years of incarceration, without an alternative sentence. The Circuit Court additionally ordered the Petitioner to have no contact with the alleged victim for life, to which the Petitioner objected. (A.R.1., at 34-35; A.R.5.) It is from the final judgment of the sentencing order that the Petitioner appeals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner asserts that the State failed to prove certain elements necessary to sustain a strangulation verdict. Specifically, there was no evidence establishing that the alleged victim's air supply and/or blood flow was restricted. Moreover, even if one of those effects was proven, there was no proof that the alleged victim suffered one of the statutory classifications of injury as a result of the cutting off of her air supply or blood flow.

The Petitioner also avers that the Circuit Court erred in permitting collateral acts evidence under Rule 404(b) because both the State and the Circuit Court failed to comply with the requirement for specificity for the reason such evidence was being admitted, because the evidence was irrelevant, and because the evidence was more prejudicial than probative.

The Petitioner next argues that the Circuit Court erred in denying a Motion in Arrest of Judgment relating to the unconstitutionally vague statutory requirement of a "substantial" injury. There is no meaningful definition of "substantial" that is sufficiently clear to pass constitutional muster, and as the jury's questions demonstrated, the Petitioner was specifically prejudiced by this issue in the context of this case.

The Petitioner also maintains that the Circuit Court erred by denying the Motion for Mistrial as a result of the jury's failure to abide by the instruction to resolve issues of doubt in favor of the accused. It is obvious that at least some members of the jury had difficulties parsing the meaning of the word substantial, yet instead of resolving those questions in favor of a theory of innocence, the jury convicted.

The Petitioner asserts that the Circuit Court lacked the authority to issue a lifetime nocontact order restraining the Petitioner from ever having any contact with the alleged victim. Because a sentence that lacks statutory authority is invalid, this aspect of the sentencing order should be vacated. Finally, the Petitioner asserts that the Circuit Court erred cumulatively, to the Petitioner's prejudice.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner asserts that this case is appropriate for oral argument under Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because the fifth assignment of error concerns an

issue of first impression. Alternatively the case is appropriate for oral argument under Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because of a result against the weight of the evidence, and an unsustainable exercise of discretion by the trial court. The case should be resolved by signed opinion.

ARGUMENT

1. The Circuit Court erred by denying the Petitioner's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal due to insufficient evidence.

The standard by which this Court will judge a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence has been set forth in Syllabus Points 2 and 3, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W.Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995), as follows:

- 2. The function of an appellate court when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 3. A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must review all the evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution. The evidence need not be inconsistent with every conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Credibility determinations are for a jury and not an appellate court. Finally, a jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. To the extent that our prior cases are inconsistent, they are expressly overruled.

This standard requires essentially a near total absence of evidence concerning an element of the offense before the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal will be reversed by this Court. The Petitioner asserts, however, that a judgment of acquittal was appropriate in this case

because of a failure of the State to prove a specific element of the offense. Specifically, in order to prove "strangulation" as charged in the indictment, the State is required to show that there was a restriction of air intake or blood flow, and that the restriction caused a loss of consciousness, substantial physical pain, illness, or impairment of physical condition [emphasis added]:

§61-2-9d. Strangulation; definitions; penalties.

- (a) As used in this section:
- (1) "Bodily injury" means substantial physical pain, illness or any impairment of physical condition;
- (2) "Strangle" means knowingly and willfully restricting another person's air intake or blood flow by the application of pressure on the neck or throat;
- (b) Any person who *strangles* another without that person's consent *and thereby causes* the other person bodily injury or loss of consciousness is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than \$2,500 or imprisoned in a state correctional facility not less than one year or more than five years, or both fined and imprisoned.

The alleged victim testified that she became unconscious, testified that she experienced pain, testified that she had a sore throat, and testified that she had a hoarse voice following the Petitioner's alleged attack. (A.R.2., at 133-182). However, there was no evidence supporting the causal link between a supposed restriction of air intake or blood flow, and any of these conditions. First, there is no actual evidence of any credible nature that the alleged victim's blood flow or air intake were actually restricted, beyond the general statement that the Petitioner put his hands around her neck and the evidence of bruises. Merely making contact with a person's neck does not support the notion that air or blood were restricted in the first place. There was, of course, no medical testimony, and there were no medical records entered into evidence. The alleged victim admitted under cross-examination that she did not even have any purported neck injury medically assessed or examined, nor did she even disclose it to her

medical providers when she went to Preston Memorial Hospital. (A.R.2., at 167-68).

Second, there is no evidence in the record whatsoever that the alleged victim's alleged period of unconsciousness, pain, sore throat, or hoarse voice were caused by the restriction of air intake or blood flow. Any of those conditions can have other causes besides the restriction of air intake or blood flow. Obviously, one can get a hoarse voice or sore throat from shouting. One could experience pain from physical contact to the neck short of contact capable of restricting air flow. The alleged victim specifically testified that she could not identify the reason why she became unconscious. The lack of any evidence of a medical forensic nature, combined with a failure of the State to actually put forth any lay evidence whatsoever connecting the alleged victim's purported injuries with a restriction of air intake or blood flow, is fatal to the State's case, and requires that this Court enter a judgment of acquittal on the single count of the indictment.

2. The Circuit Court erred by denying the Petitioner's Motion for New Trial based upon the improper admission of collateral acts evidence under Rule 404(b).

The standard of review pertaining to appeals of the admission of Rule 404(b) evidence is set forth in *State v. LaRock*, 196 W.Va. 294, 310-11, 470 S.E.2d 613, 629-30 (1996):

The standard of review for a trial court's admission of evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b) involves a three-step analysis. First, we review for clear error the trial court's factual determination that there is sufficient evidence to show the other acts occurred. Second, we review de novo whether the trial court correctly found the evidence was admissible for a legitimate purpose. Third, we review for an abuse of discretion the trial court's conclusion that the "other acts" evidence is more probative than prejudicial under Rule 403.

The Petitioner moved for a new trial based upon the Court's admission of 404(b) evidence of prior alleged incidents of strangulation by the Petitioner against the alleged victim.

The Court's ruling allowing the State's witnesses to testify about these prior alleged incidents

violated the principles underlying *State v. McGinnis*, 193 W. Va. 147, 455 S.E.2d 516 (1994), in a variety of ways.

Syllabus Point 2 of McGinnis states [boldface emphasis added]:

Where an offer of evidence is made under Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, the trial court, pursuant to Rule 104(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, is to determine its admissibility. Before admitting the evidence, the trial court should conduct an in camera hearing as stated in State v. Dolin, 176 W. Va. 688, 347 S.E.2d 208 (1986). After hearing the evidence and arguments of counsel, the trial court must be satisfied by a preponderance of the evidence that the acts or conduct occurred and that the defendant committed the acts. If the trial court does not find by a preponderance of the evidence that the acts or conduct was committed or that the defendant was the actor, the evidence should be excluded under Rule 404(b). If a sufficient showing has been made, the trial court must then determine the relevancy of the evidence under Rules 401 and 402 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence and conduct the balancing required under Rule 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. If the trial court is then satisfied that the Rule 404(b) evidence is admissible, it should instruct the jury on the limited purpose for which such evidence has been admitted. A limiting instruction should be given at the time the evidence is offered, and we recommend that it be repeated in the trial court's general charge to the jury at the conclusion of the evidence.

First, there was an insufficient record from which the Court could make a factual finding that the alleged incidents actually happened by a preponderance of the evidence. While the alleged victim was sworn to testify, her testimony centered on the admissibility of the recorded statement that the Court did not ultimately admit. She was not actually subject to cross examination in this context on the question of whether those prior acts occurred. (A.R.2., at 23-31). She gave no details concerning the prior bad acts about which she was permitted to testify, and no details were ever brought to light with the exception of the one contained in the police report. However, given that there was not a proper evidentiary hearing on the matter, the Court should not have admitted the evidence as 404(b) evidence because the proffered evidence did not satisfy the threshold requirement of *McGinnis*.

Second, the Court was incorrect to determine that the prior acts were relevant to the charge being prosecuted. The factual question presented to the jury was whether the Petitioner engaged in the specific physical conduct, creating the specific physical results, to the alleged victim, on one specific night. Whether or not he had ever previously engaged in that conduct had no bearing whatsoever upon whether his acts during the altercation of the night in question met the elements of the Strangulation offense.

Third, for reasons related to the relevancy question, the Circuit Court was also incorrect in determining that the Rule 403 balancing test was satisfied. The evidence was clearly more prejudicial than probative. The Circuit Court's ruling allowed the State to tar the Petitioner as an abuser with a predilection to engage in strangulation, thereby inflaming the jury instead of causing them to concentrate on the specific charge in the indictment.

Finally, despite the Petitioner's specific objection on this issue, the Court did not comply with Syllabus Point 1 of *McGinnis*:

When offering evidence under Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, the prosecution is required to identify the specific purpose for which the evidence is being offered and the jury must be instructed to limit its consideration of the evidence to only that purpose. It is not sufficient for the prosecution or the trial court merely to cite or mention the litany of possible uses listed in Rule 404(b). The specific and precise purpose for which the evidence is offered must clearly be shown from the record and that purpose alone must be told to the jury in the trial court's instruction.

Both the State and the Circuit Court failed to abide by this requirement, resulting in the State alleging the acts for the purpose of "intent, motive, opportunity, absence of mistake, absence of accident," with the Court adopting that improper, multifaceted approach. The Defendant assets that it is far from "clearly... shown from the record" that any of those purposes were satisfied. This shotgun approach only heightens the prejudice of the admission of the

collateral acts evidence by further confusing the jury beyond the probative value of any of those categories.

3. The Circuit Court erred by denying the Petitioner's Motion for Arrest of Judgment based upon the invalidity of the "Strangulation" statute for being unconstitutionally vague.

The Petitioner assigns as error the Circuit Court's denial of his Motion for Arrest of Judgment, based upon the argument that the statute under which he was convicted was void for vagueness. In order for a statute to pass constitutional muster, where a statute is challenged upon the grounds of vagueness, the court looks to determine whether the criminal statute is "set out with sufficient definiteness to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is prohibited by statute and to provide adequate standards of adjudication." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Flinn, 208 S.E.2d 538 (1974).

Additionally, the standard of review for a constitutional challenge to a statute is highly deferential to the legislature owing to the separation of powers:

In considering the constitutionality of a legislative enactment, courts must exercise due restraint, in recognition of the principle of separation of powers in government among the judicial, legislative and executive branches. Every reasonable construction must be resorted to by the courts in order to sustain constitutionality, and any reasonable doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment in question. Courts are not concerned with questions relating to legislative policy. The general powers of the legislature, within constitutional limits, are almost plenary. In considering the constitutionality of an act of the legislature, the negation of legislative power must appear beyond reasonable doubt.

Given our clear preference for upholding legislative enactments, this Court "will interpret legislation in any reasonable way which will sustain its constitutionality." State v. Legg, 207 W.Va. 686, 694, 536 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2000); accord Syl. Pt. 3, Slack v. Jacob, 8 W.Va. 612 (1875) ("Wherever an act of the Legislature can be so construed and applied as to avoid a conflict with the Constitution, and give it the force of law, such construction will be adopted by the courts.").

State v. Yocum, 233 W.Va. 439, 759 S.E.2d 182, 186 (2014).

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