DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 19-0447

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

V.

STEVEN TEWALT,

Petitioner.



RESPONSE BRIEF ON BEHALF OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA NEASE-PROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
W.Va. State Bar #: 9354
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor
Charleston, WV 25301
(304) 558-5830
Fax: (304) 558-5833
Andrea.R.Nease-Proper@wvago.gov
Counsel for Respondent

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

"When the constitutionality of a statute is questioned every reasonable construction of the statute must be resorted to by a court in order to sustain constitutionality, and any doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment." Syl. Pt. 3, Willis v. O'Brien, 151 W. Va. 628, 153 S.E.2d 178 (1967). Furthermore, this Court has stated that "[a] criminal statute must be set out with sufficient definiteness to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is prohibited by statute and to provide adequate standards for adjudication." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Flinn, 158 W. Va. 111, 208 S.E.2d 538

(1974). "Statutes involving a criminal penalty, which govern potential First Amendment freedoms or other similarly sensitive constitutional rights, are tested for certainty and definiteness by interpreting their meaning from the face of the statute." Syl. Pt. 2, Flinn, 158 W. Va. 111, 208 S.E.2d 538. "Criminal statutes, which do not impinge upon First Amendment freedoms or other similarly sensitive constitutional rights, are tested for certainty and definiteness by construing the statute in light of the conduct to which it is applied." Syl. Pt.3, Flinn, 158 W. Va. 111, 208 S.E.2d 538.

This Court has specifically addressed the doctrine relied upon by Petitioner:

As we observed in *State ex rel. Appleby v. Recht*, 213 W.Va. 503, 583 S.E.2d 800 (2002), "[t]he void for vagueness doctrine is an aspect of the due process requirement that statutes set forth impermissible conduct with sufficient clarity that a person of ordinary intelligence knows what conduct is prohibited and the penalty if he transgresses these limitations." Id. at 518, 583 S.E.2d at 815.

State v. Yocum, 233 W. Va. 439, 444, 759 S.E.2d 182, 187 (2014). However, this Court has also noted its long held policy of reluctance to overturn statutes properly enacted by the Legislature as a matter of policy:

"In considering the constitutionality of a legislative enactment, courts must exercise due restraint, in recognition of the separation of powers in government among the judicial, legislative and executive branches. Every reasonable construction must be resorted to by the courts in order to sustain constitutionality, and any reasonable doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment in question. Courts are not concerned with questions relating to legislative policy. The general powers of the legislature, within constitutional limits, are almost plenary. In considering the constitutionality of an act of the legislature, the negation of legislative power must appear beyond reasonable doubt." Syl. Pt. 1, State ex rel. Appalachian Power Co. v. Gainer, 149 W.Va. 740, 143 S.E.2d 351 (1965).

Syl. Pt. 1, Yocum, 233 W. Va. 439, 759 S.E.2d 182. See also State v. James, 227 W.Va. 407, 413, 710 S.E.2d 98, 104 (2011)("our examination of a constitutional challenge to a legislative enactment necessarily involves judicial restraint"); State v. Legg, 207 W.Va. 686, 694, 536

S.E.2d 110, 118 (2000) ("Given our clear preference for upholding legislative enactments, this Court 'will interpret legislation in any reasonable way which will sustain its constitutionality.""); Syl. Pt. 3, Slack v. Jacob, 8 W.Va. 612 (1875) ("Wherever an act of the Legislature can be so construed and applied as to avoid a conflict with the Constitution, and give it the force of law, such construction will be adopted by the courts.").

First, Petitioner admits he did not object to the circuit court's response to the question regarding the term "substantial." Pet'r Br. at 11. Thus, the Court should not entertain this assignment of error: "[o]ur jurisprudence clearly establishes the doctrine that preserving error is the responsibility of the parties." *Tennant v. Marion Health Care Found., Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 97, 114, 459 S.E.2d 374, 391 (1995). However, Petitioner also cannot succeed on the merits of this argument under this Court's edict that every reasonable construction of the statute must be resorted to by a court in order to sustain constitutionality.

"Under our law, '[a] term which is widely used and which is readily comprehensible to the average person without further definition or refinement need not have a defining instruction.' Syllabus Point 2, State v. Bartlett, 177 W.Va. 663, 355 S.E.2d 913 (1987)." State v. Jett, 220 W. Va. 289, 293, 647 S.E.2d 725, 729 (2007). See also, Ballard v. Thomas, 233 W.Va. 488, 759 S.E.2d 231 (2014) (noting the terms "care, custody and control," "reckless disregard," and "cause" were self-explanatory and readily understood, and need not be specifically defined). Further, "[w]e have never held that every term in a jury instruction must be defined, nor does the petitioner direct us to any authority requiring that the term in question be defined." State v. Bartlett, 177 W. Va. 663, 667, 355 S.E.2d 913, 917 (1987). Finally, this Court has noted that a word is not vague if it is "not so arcane a term that the lack of a definitional instruction left the

jury entirely without guidance." State v. Bartlett, 177 W. Va. 663, 667, 355 S.E.2d 913, 917 (1987).

Petitioner stresses that the jury in this action asked for a definition of substantial, showing that it is not a common term. However, the term was never defined by the circuit court, and yet the jury, relying on their own understanding of a commonly used word, was able to make a determination in this case, as evidenced by their unanimous verdict. Furthermore, the term "substantial" appears in many statutes in the West Virginia Code and has not been found to be vague relating to any of those provisions. The Legislature did define other terms in the statute, which implies that it felt the term substantial should be read with the common man's understanding of the word, and not any specific legal definition. Upon examination of this code provision, it is likely that the jury, in an abundance of caution, and because other terms were defined in the jury instructions, questioned whether a legal definition was necessary. This does not render the statute void for vagueness, and Petitioner has failed to meet the heavy burden necessary to support his contention.

E. The circuit court did not err in denying the motion for mistrial.

Petitioner argues that because the jury did not resolve the conflict of guilt versus innocence in favor of Petitioner, he should have been granted a mistrial. Specifically, Petitioner argues that based upon the jury's inquiry concerning the word "substantial" it is clear that a conflict existed regarding Petitioner's guilt, and because he was found guilty, it is clear that the jury resolved the conflict in the State's favor instead.

Regarding mistrials, this Court has explained that:

The decision to declare a mistrial, discharge the jury and order a new trial in a criminal case is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court. A trial court is empowered to exercise this discretion only when there is a 'manifest necessity' for discharging the jury before it has rendered its verdict. This power of the trial court must be exercised wisely; absent the existence of manifest

necessity, a trial court's discharge of the jury without rendering a verdict has the effect of an acquittal of the accused and gives rise to a plea of double jeopardy.

State v. Williams, 172 W.Va. 295, 304, 305 S.E.2d 251, 260 (1983); State v. Smith, 225 W. Va. 706, 709, 696 S.E.2d 8, 11 (2010). Petitioner's contentions herein do not support a mistrial, and the circuit court did not err in failing to grant the requested mistrial. Petitioner's contention that the jury failed to follow instruction is mere speculation. Uncertainty for a moment over a word in the jury instruction does not support a mistrial in this matter. The jury was polled and the verdict was unanimous. Petitioner has presented no evidence of any juror misconduct or any other evidence to support his contention that the jury somehow was forced into a guilty verdict, rather than a not guilty verdict or a hung jury. The jury deliberated for a period of time after the court indicated that it had to define the word substantial according to their own experience; Petitioner has no reason to believe that the jury, which was particularly rigorous in its examination of the jury instructions, suddenly disregarded said instructions. Likewise, the fact that the jury asked if Petitioner could be found guilty of battery early on in its deliberations does not show that the jury somehow disregarded the law; rather, this shows that the jury was thorough and exacting in its verdict and carefully considered all options.

This Court has repeatedly stated that "[a] skeletal 'argument,' really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim.... Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs." State v. Day, 225 W.Va. 794, 806 n. 21, 696 S.E.2d 310, 322 n. 21 (2010) (internal quotations and citations omitted). "Although we liberally construe briefs in determining issues presented for review, issues which are not raised, and those mentioned only in passing but are not supported with pertinent authority, are not considered on appeal." State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 302, 470 S.E.2d 613, 621 (1996). See also State v. Lilly, 194 W.Va. 595, 605 n. 16, 461

S.E.2d 101, 111 n. 16 (1995) ("casual mention of an issue in a brief is cursory treatment insufficient to preserve the issue on appeal"). As this assignment of error is meritless and without any legal or factual support, the circuit court's order should be affirmed.

F. The circuit court's ruling concerning the no-contact order is not ripe for appeal at this time.

Petitioner next asserts that the circuit court erred in granting Krystal Tewalt a lifetime no contact order. Petitioner argues that this portion of the sentence is without statutory authority. However, this issue is not ripe for this Court to decide, as the provision has not yet been enforced, and thus this Court should decline to address this assignment of error.

This Court has repeatedly declined to address issues which are not ripe for policy reasons:

we have traditionally held that "courts will not . . . adjudicate rights which are merely contingent or dependent upon contingent events, as distinguished from actual controversies." Likewise, "courts [will not] resolve mere academic disputes or moot questions or render mere advisory opinions which are unrelated to actual controversies."

Indeed, a matter must be ripe for consideration before the court may review it. Courts must be cautious not to issue advisory opinions.

Zaleski v. West Virginia Mut. Ins. Co., 224 W.Va. 544, 552, 687 S.E.2d 123, 131 (2009) (citations omitted). Further, without a ripe claim, the Court does not have subject matter jurisdiction:

We hereby hold that subject matter jurisdiction does not exist over claims that are not ripe for adjudication. See *Dakota*, *Minn. & E. R.R. Corp. v. South Dakota*, 362 F.3d 512, 520 (8th Cir. 2004) ("The issue of ripeness ... is one of subject matter jurisdiction."); *City of Chico*, 880 F.2d at 201 ("Whether a claim is ripe for adjudication goes to a court's subject matter jurisdiction[.]").

State ex rel. Universal Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Wilson, 239 W. Va. 338, 346, 801 S.E.2d 216, 224 (2017).

"The test for ripeness has been explained as follows: "Determining whether ... [an] action is ripe for judicial review requires us to evaluate (1) the fitness of the issues for judicial decision and (2) the hardship to the parties of withholding court consideration." [National Park Hospitality Ass'n v. Department of Interior, 538 U.S. 803], 808 [2003] ... (citation omitted)." State ex rel. Healthport Techs., LLC v. Stucky, 239 W. Va. 239, 244–45, 800 S.E.2d 506, 511–12 (2017)(Justices Davis and Workman, dissenting). In the present case, Petitioner has not been punished in any manner for violating the no contact provision; thus, the provision is not ripe for this Court to examine as there is no justiciable controversy. As to the second point, there is no hardship to the parties in withholding court consideration. Petitioner was convicted of strangulation against his now ex-wife, and there was testimony and evidence of prior domestic violence in the relationship. Domestic violence is such a serious problem in this state that the Court has created an entire set of rules to govern domestic violence proceedings, and the Legislature has noted as follows:

- (1)Every person has a right to be safe and secure in his or her home and family and to be free from domestic violence.
- (2) Children are often physically assaulted or witness violence against one of their parents or other family or household members, violence which too often ultimately results in death. These children may suffer deep and lasting emotional harm from victimization and from exposure to domestic violence;
- (3) Domestic violence is a major health and law-enforcement problem in this state with enormous costs to the state in both dollars and human lives. It affects people of all racial and ethnic backgrounds and all socioeconomic classes; and
- (4) Domestic violence can be deterred, prevented or reduced by legal intervention that treats this problem with the seriousness that it deserves.

W.Va. Code § 48-27-101(a). Further, the provisions governing domestic violence should be liberally construed. W.Va. Code § 48-27-101(b). In the present case, Petitioner does not meet the

test for ripeness, and he has no reason to even have the provision removed from the sentencing order unless he intends to violate it by contacting the victim of his crime. Since this claim is not ripe, this Court should not entertain it and should find no merit in Petitioner's assignment of error.

G. The circuit court did not commit cumulative error.

Petitioner's final argument is that he has set forth multiple assignments of error, and if there is "harmless error" in two or more issues, then this Court should find that the errors accrued and prejudiced him, creating cumulative error. Pet'r Br. at 16. Petitioner argues for a new trial as a result of these alleged errors.

Under the cumulative error doctrine:

Where the record of a criminal trial shows that the cumulative effect of numerous errors committed during the trial prevented the defendant from receiving a fair trial, his conviction should be set aside, even though any one of such errors standing alone would be harmless error.

Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Smith, 156 W. Va. 385, 193 S.E.2d 550 (1972). "Under the decision in Smith, the cumulative error doctrine is applicable only when 'numerous' errors have been found." State v. Tyler G., 236 W. Va. 152, 165, 778 S.E.2d 601, 614 (2015). "[T]his Court has recognized that the cumulative error doctrine 'should be used sparingly' and only where the errors are apparent from the record." State v. Peterson, 239 W. Va. 21, 35, 799 S.E.2d 98, 112 (2017) (quoting Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc., 194 W.Va. 97, 118, 459 S.E.2d 374, 395 (1995)). It has been "emphasized that the cumulative error doctrine necessitates reversal only in rare instances and . . . 'the possibility of cumulative error is often acknowledged but practically never found persuasive." United States v. Delgado, 672 F.3d 320, 344 (5th Cir.2012) (en banc) (quoting Derden v. McNeel, 978 F.2d 1453, 1456 (5th Cir.1992) (en banc)). "Cumulative error analysis should evaluate only the effect of matters determined to be error, not the cumulative

effect of non-errors." State v. Knuckles, 196 W. Va. 416, 426, 473 S.E.2d 131, 141 (1996). In

other words, where there is no error at all, the cumulative error doctrine lacks vitality and cannot

afford a petitioner a basis for relief. State v. Bailey, No. 16-0740, 2018 WL 300588, at *5 (W.

Va. Jan. 5, 2018) (memorandum decision) ("Because we have found no error, the cumulative

error doctrine does not apply. Thus, we reject this assignment of error."); State v. Wilfred H., No.

17-0170, 2018 WL 3005947, at *9 (W. Va. June 15, 2018) (memorandum decision) ("Here, as

we find no error, we find no merit in petitioner's argument for the application of the cumulative

error doctrine.").

Petitioner misstates the law, noting that two or more errors would be sufficient, but the

relevant law states that "numerous" errors are required. Petitioner, however, has pointed to no

errors sufficient to grant him a new trial, let alone numerous errors equating to harmless error.

Thus, the circuit court's sentencing order should be affirmed.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully asks this Court to deny Petitioner's

appeal and affirm Petitioner's sentence.